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A LEGAL COMMENTARY"

To DATE, MUCH ATTENTION has been devoted to the figure of arbitration
and other alternative methods of dispute resolution in Roman law.'
In recent years particular attention has also been paid to the considera-

* The draft version of this article has been read by Jakub Ursanik, to whom I am very grate-
ful for the fruitful discussions and useful suggestions. All dates unless otherwise indicated are ADp.

! E.g., R. DULL, Der Giitegedanke im romischen Zivilprozessrecht, Miinchen 1931; M. TaLa-
MANCA, Ricerche in tema di ‘compromissum’, Milano 1958; G. MARANI, Aspetti negoziali e aspet-
ti processuali dellarbitrato. Contributo alla dottrina dell arbitrato, Torino 1966; E. DE Ruc-
GIERO, Larbitrato pubblico in relazione con privato presso i Romani: studio di epigrafia giuridica,
Roma 1971; K.-H. ZI1EGLER, Das private Schiedsgericht im antiken romischen Recht, Miinchen
1971 (Miinchener Beitrige zur Papyrusforschung und antiken Rechtsgeschichte 58); L. MURTANO,
Arbiter-arbitrator: forme di giustizia privata nell'eta del diritto comune, Napoli 1984 (Storia e
diritto: Studi 13); G. BuiGUES OLIVER, La solucion amistosa de los conflictos en der echo Romano.
El arbiter ex compromisso, Madrid 1990; M. HUMBERT, ‘Arbitrage et jugement 2 Rome’,
Droit et Cultures 28 (1994), pp. 47-63; P. STEIN, ‘Roman arbitration: an English perspec-
tive’, Israel Law Review 29 (1995), pp. 215-227; D. Roesuck & B. De Loynes De Foumr-
CHON, Roman Arbitration, Oxford 2004; A. MarF1, ‘Tarbitrato nell’esperienza giuridica
greca e Romano’, {in:} Recht gestern und beute: Festschrift zum 85. Geburtstag von Richard
Haase, Wiesbaden 2006, pp. 109-113; Ulrike BABUSIAUX, Id quod actum est. Zur Ermittlung
des Parteiwillens im klassischen romischen Zivilprozefs, Miinchen 2006 (Miinchener Beitrige zur
Papyrusforschung und antiken Rechtsgeschichte 95).
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tion of the practical application of these institutions in the light of the
available papyrological sources.” This is partially due to the fact that arbi-
tration and alternative methods of dispute resolution are well attested for
the Byzantine Egypt, whereas sources dealing with state jurisdiction are
notably scarce.’ The explanation for this phenomenon as well as the ques-
tion of the actual scope of application of arbitration and settlement of
claims as a way of dispute resolution in reference to the contemporary
activity of state jurisdiction® remains a matter of dispute.’ The perspec-

2 E.g.,J. MODRZEJEWSKI, ‘Private arbitration in the law of Graeco-Roman Egypt’, ffurP
6 (1952), pp. 239—256; and recently a work that also presents an anthropological point of
view while analyzing papyrological sources: T. GaGos & P. vAN MINNEN, Settling a Dis-
pute. Toward a Legal Anthropology of Late Antique Egypt, Michigan 1995; critical opinion on
the application of anthropological method ¢f. J. HENGsTL, ‘Rechtsantropologie, Rechts-
soziologie und die Rechtsordnung im ptolemiischen Agypten’, PapCogr. xx11, pp. 619-639;
also in reference to Petra: T. Gacos, ‘Negotiating money and space in sixth-century
Petra’, ibidem, pp. 495—509.

3 As noted on several occasions: A. A. ScHILLER, ‘The courts are no more’, Studi Volterra 1,
Milano 1971, pp. 469—502.

* On the subject of civil process in province and style of documents see, for instance:
K. Hacky, ‘Der Zivilproze$ in den Provinzen’, ZRG RA 114 (1997), pp. 141-159; D. NORR,
‘Romisches Zivilprozefirecht nach Max Kaser. Prozefirecht und Prozefipraxis in der
Provinz Arabia’, ZRG RA. 115 (1998), pp. 80—98; ¢f. H. J. WoLrr, ‘Rémisches Provinzial-
recht in der Provinz Arabia (Rechtspolitik als Instrument der Beherrschung)’, Aufstieg und
Niedergang der romischen Welt 11.13, Berlin — New York 1980, pp. 763-806; H. J. WoLFF,
‘Der byzantinische Urkundenstil Agyptens im Lichter der Funde von Nessana und Dura’,
RIDA 8 (1961), pp. 115-154.

3 The lack of sources for state jurisdiction dating after Justinian inclined A. A. SCHILLER
to formulate his controversial thesis according to which this period witnessed a total van-
ishing of state jurisdiction in favour of amicable measures of dispute resolution
(¢f- SCHILLER, ‘The courts are no more’ [cit. n. 3]. Schiller’s thesis, however, was met with
vehement objections. D. S1MON, for example (Zur Zivilsgerichtsbarkeit im spitbyzanti-
nischen Agypten’, RIDA 18 (1971), pp. 623-657) argued that state jurisdiction existed also
in 6th and early 7th centuries. Recent studies brought a variety of perspective on the sub-
ject. J. UrBanik, (Compromesso o processo? Alternativa risoluzione di conflitti e tutela
dei diritti nella prassi della tarda antichit?’, {in:} Symposion 2005. Vortrige zur griechischen
und hellenistischen Rechtsgeschichte (Salerno, 14.~18. September 2005), Wien 2007, pp. 377-400)
presents a socio-historical-juridical approach with the main question focused around the
reasons for turning away from institutionalised courts and seeking help in settlement of
claims and arbitration. Urbanik’s multifaceted (and appealing) conclusion includes finan-



P.PETRA IV 39 - A LEGAL COMMENTARY 355

tive obtained with the use of this considerable amount of the Egyptian
papyri has been recently expanded by data provided by documents found
in 1993 in Petra.’

The Petra papyri offer a rare and valuable insight into the judicial
practice of this region of the empire, thus filling the noticeable geo-
graphical and chronological gap in the papyrological documentation from

cial, personal and practical reasons. On the other hand, B. PaALME, (Antwort auf Jakub
Urbanik’, sbidem, pp. 401—410) raises strong and reasonable doubts that the increase of
alternative methods of dispute resolution was that significant. He suspects that we may
be carried away by an illusion created by the current state of research and argues that the
choice between compromesso and processo could have very well not existed at all and that the
alternative methods of dispute resolution did not actually cause the fall of state jurisdic-
tion. Admittedly, his reconstruction of Roman jurisdiction in late Antiquity seems bal-
anced and convincing. Somewhat in this vein is the study of Claudia KrEuzsALER, (‘Die
Beurkundung auflergerichtlicher Streitbeilegung in den #gyptischen Papyri’, lin:l
Ch. GasTGEBER (ed.) Quellen zur byzantynischen Rechstpraxis. Aspekte der Textiiberlieferung,
Paliographie und Diplomatik. Akten des internationalen Symposiums, Wien §-7.11.2007, Wien
2010, pp. 17-26) who ponders the extent to which the written material reflects the actual
functioning of the daily Egyptian legal reality. Her systematic presentation of the avail-
able documents of juridical praxis helps to realise how limited these sources are, when it
comes to reconstructing the juridical structure. One should also note M. Bucunuorz
‘Aufiergerichtliche Streitbeendigung in Petra im 6. Jh. n. Chr.: der Papyrus Petra inv. 83,
[in:} Recht gestern und heute. Festschrift Richard Haase, Wiesbaden 2006, pp. 1337147,
at p. 140, who also discussed the sources from outside Egypt.

S In reference to the content of the discovered papyri see Z. T. Fiema, L. KOENEN &
F. ZaYADINE, ‘Petra romana, byzantina et islamica’, {in:} T. WEBER & R. WENNING (ed.),
Petra: Antike Felsstadt zwischen arabischer Tradition und griechischer Norm, Mainz 1997,
pp- 145-62; P. M. Bikal, ‘Petra Church Project, Petra Papyri’, AFA4 100 (1996), pp. 533~
—535; for descriptions of the find and the nature of the archive, see: L. KOENEN, ‘The car-
bonized archive from Petra’, JRA 9 (1996), pp. 177188 {as well as: 1DEM in Michigan Quar-
terly Review 35 (1996), pp. 513-531k; see also: A. Arjava, ‘Family finances in Byzantine Near
East: P. Petra inv. 68’, PapCongr. XX11 1, pp. 65—70; R. W. DANIEL, ‘P. Petra inv. 10 and its
Arabic’, ibidem, 1, pp. 331-341; J. FROSEN, ‘The first five years of the Petra Papyri’, sbidem,
I, pp. 487-493; Gacos, ‘Negotiating money’ (cit. n. 2), pp. 495-509; Maarit Kaimio,
‘P. Petra inv. 83: A settlement of dispute’, 7bidem, 11, pp. 719—724; L. KOENEN, ‘Preliminary
observations on legal matters in P. Petra inv. 10’, tbidem, 11, pp. 727—742; Marjo LEHTINEN,
‘Preliminary remarks on the prosopography of the Petra Papyri’, tbidem; 11, pp. 787-794;
Marjaana VESTERINEN, ‘Theft and taxes. A series of short documents (P.Petra inv.
69.1-8)’, ibidem 11, pp. 1281-1285; additionally: R. W. DaNIeL, “Toponomastic Mal in
P. Nessana and P. Petra Inv. 10, ZPE 122 (1998), pp. 195-196.
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outside Egypt.” Although both the terminology and the legal procedure
in Petra resembles those known to us from the Byzantine Egypt, certain
differences in legal language and legal practice in sixth-century Petra
could be observed.®

The present paper investigates certain legal issues addressed in
a recently published papyrus from the Petra collection, P. Petra 1v 39,
a document describing a settlement of a dispute by arbitration.

With the length of 6.20-6.50 meters and 500 lines of written text
transversa charta P. Petra 1v 39 is one of the longest papyri ever discovered.
Large parts of it, however, are badly preserved and, as noted by the edi-
tors, the reconstructed position of several fragments remains dis-
putable.”

P. Petra 1v 39 has been considered unique for its formal construction,
legal terminology, and other features of settlement of dispute." One of

7 Cf Hannah M. Corton, W. E. H. Cockie & F. G. B. MILLAR, ‘The papyrology of the
Roman Near East: a survey’, 7RS 85 (1995), pp. 214—235; also ¢f. J. HEnGgsTL, ‘Die byzanti-
nischen Papyri aus Petra: Stand der Bearbeitung und Bitte um Unterstiitzung’, RIDA 49
(2002), pp. 3417357

¥ Cf, eg., Wourr, ‘Der byzantinische Urkundenstil Agyptens’ (cit. n. 4); M. BucnuoLz,
Juristische Terminologie in P. Petra Inv. 83. Beobachtungen zur Rechtsgeschichte Petras
und zur Wiedergabe des rémischen Rechts in griechischer Sprache’, PapCongr. xx1v 1,
pp. 111-128; BucHHOLZ, ‘Aufiergerichtliche Streitbeendigung’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 133-147.

? Transcription and the English translation of the papyrus used in the article were taken
from: Maarit Kaimio, ‘P. Petra 1v 39 Settlement of dispute by arbitration’, [in:} A. Arjava,
M. Bucunovrz, T. Gacos & Maarit Kamvrio (eds.), The Petra Papyri 1v, Amman 2011,
Pp- 411106, esp. pp. 56—73.

' The state of preservation of the document hinders the proper reconstruction and
interpretation of the dispute; see also e.g., BucuaoLzZ, ‘Aufiergerichtliche Streitbeendi-
gung’ (cit. n. 5), p. 136; Kammro, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 51; for the detailed informa-
tion concerning the physical condition of the papyrus see, pp. 4144; for the reconstruc-
tion of the agreement see, p. 47.

" Constituting minutes of the proceedings, P. Petra 1v 39 has seldom counterparts
attested for in the Egyptian practice. In Egypt more frequent was utilisation of a dzalysis,
which contained signatures of witnesses and a notary and from the legal point of view had
a similar function as a Roman #ransactio (the renunciation of claims). For further differ-
ences between the analysed document and the Egyptian dialyseis, see: BucHHOLZ,
‘Aufergerichtliche Streitbeendigung’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 137-139; see also the mention in, e.g,
KRrEUZSALER, ‘Die Beurkundung’ (cit. n. 5), p. 21, n. 17; for the formulae of the dialysis see:
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the most compelling aspects of this document is the fact that it sheds
new light on the relations between the ‘imperial law’ and the possibly
existing local legal tradition, as well as the relations between the state and
private methods of dispute resolution in sixth-century century Petra. The
protocol in question involves many technical terms of lawcourts which, as
duly noted by the editors, seems to be derived from Roman law. The said
catalogue includes above all the often-mentioned dngyvoiwy (defensio).”
Additional words likewise translated from Latin include mpdkpipa
(praeiudicium),” Sialalia Gnterlocutio)* as well as & mepi T7)s émepelas Smros
(Gusiurandum calumniae).” Instances of such terms in the text demonstrate

A. STEINWENTER, ‘Das byzantinische Dialysis Formular’, {in:} Studi in memoria di A. Albertoni 1,
Padova 1935, pp. 71-94.

2L 78, 122, 123, 126, 140, 278, 409, 423, 428, 441, 442; Explanation and controversies
regarding applied spelling see: BucanoOLZ, ‘Introduction, legal terminology in the Petra
Papyri’, P. Petra 1v, pp. 1-8; for a more detailed, but partly outdated discussion see: Buch-
HOLZ, ‘Juristische Terminologie’ (cit. n. §), pp. 111-128;

Bl 395, 403, 496; for more information, literature and applicable sources concerning
mpdrpwua and praeiudicium see: BucuHOLZ, ‘Introduction, legal terminology’ (cit. n. 12), p. 5;
see also: M. Kaser & K. Hacky, Zzvilprozefirecht, Miinchen 1996 (2 ed.), pp. 247-50.

" L1 93, 373, 427, 497; for the equation of the terms and literature see, e.g., BucHHOLZ,
‘Introduction, Legal Terminology’ (cit. n. 12), p. 5 (including attestations of the term in
another Petra papyri: P. Petra 1.2, 1. 155, 203), and flowingly LS, s.v.; for the meaning
investigation see: DGE, s.v.; for the interlocutio in Roman Law see: Kaser & Hackv, Zivil-
prozefirecht (cit. n. 13), p. 495, 571, 608, cf. p. 585; for different examples of usage of term in
Egyptian papyri see: P. Lond. v 1674, 1. 45 (Antinoopolis, AD 570), P. Oxy. XLvI 3296, 1. 10
(Oxyrhynchus, 291), BGU xv11 2692, 1. 4 (Hermoupolis Magna, 6 cent.), P. Oxy. xv1 1837,
1. 3 (Oxyrhynchus, 6 cent.), P. Lond. 1 77,1. 69 (Hermonthis, 8 cent.).

5 LI 494—495; For the discussion see: BucnuoLz, Juristische Terminologie’ (cit. n. 8),
pp- 114118 and 1DEM, ‘Introduction, legal terminology’ (cit. n. 12), p. § (with relevant lit-
erature and sources); for the provisions and legal commentary see, e.g., C7. 2.58.2.4; KASER
& Hacky, Zivilprozefirecht (cit. n. 13), p. 631; by an oath against insulting treatment or
abuse is clearly meant zusiurandum calumniae, which ordinarily preceded every lawsuit and
since Justinian’s reign also arbitration. The aim of this act was to guarantee by the parties
that their claims were justified and that proceedings were not attempted at chicanery.
In the case of P. Petra 1v 39, as noted above, contrary to Roman law, those oaths were
taken as a precaution before relevant oaths of innocence. One should not fail to notice
that while oaths are mentioned in the analysed document on several occasions, the arbi-
tration itself, contrary to its Egyptian counterparts, is not confirmed with an oath. This
could be explained by stating that Petra seems to have followed Justinian’s annulment in
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beyond doubt that the parties and arbitrators had some, considerable,
specific legal knowledge.'"

These features, among many others, were already addressed by Maar-
it Kaimio in her legal commentary of the papyrus in question. Nonethe-
less, on closer examination, some aspects of her analysis give rise to con-
troversy. In what follows these will be discussed and an alternative legal
interpretation will be framed.

The main focus of the presented paper is the fragment concerning the
division of the central courtyard (uéoavAov) and the refuse pit
(kompodoyetov) (lines 451-60) as well as the concluded deeds of sale that
relate to those premises.

The document, drawn up in Kastron Zadakathon, modern Sadaqa, 25
km South-East of Petra, probably in 574 AD is a protocol describing at
length the dispute that arose between two neighbours and its alternative
resolution made by two arbiters.

The parties of the controversy are Theodoros, son of Obodianos' and
Stephanos, son of Leonitos (both known from several other papyri from
the Petra corpus),”® who had their houses in Sadaqa situated next to each
other. The dispute is said to have originated already in the times of the
predecessors of Theodoros and Stephanos and, despite numerous
attempts, remained unresolved. It involves several issues addressed in ear-

539 of his legislation of 5§29 regarding the necessity of confirming arbitration by an oath,
an act which Egypt refused to acknowledge. In lines §04—523 it is, therefore, explicitly
stated that — should the parties breach the given award — they would need to pay a penal-
ty fixed by mediation.

' Bucuuovz, Juristische Terminologie’ (cit. n. 8), pp. 111-128; IDEM, ‘Zur juristischen
Fachsprache in den Petra-Papyri: Die Begriffe hyphos und plenaria’, [in:} GastGeser (ed.),
Quellen zur byzantynischen Rechstpraxis (cit. n. 5), pp. 9-16; Also concerning the usage of
Greek technical terms by jurists of the byzantine period: N. vaAN DER WAL, ‘Les termes tech-
niques grecs dans la langue de jurists byzantins’, Subseciva Groningana 6 (1999), pp. 127-141.

7 For the life and family of Theodoros, son of Obodianos, see: Marjo LEHTINEN, ‘Intro-
duction, family of Theodoros’, {in:} J. FrROSEN, A. Arjava & Marjo LEHTINEN (eds),
The Petra Papyri 1, Amman 2002, pp. 9-10; A. Arjava & Marjo LEHTINEN, ‘Introduction,
updated family tree of Theodoros’, [in:} A. Arjava, M. Bucunorz & T. Gacos (eds.),
The Petra Papyri 111, Amman 2007, p. 17; see also Kaimio, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 46.

18 E.g., P. Petra 1v 40, 41.



P.PETRA IV 39 - A LEGAL COMMENTARY 359

lier agreements concerning the division of the premises: the right to con-
duct water from each other’s roofs, the accusation of theft of building
materials and encroachment, as well as the promise of payment of two
solidi. A significant cause of the disagreements between the parties was
the fact that Theodoros merely owned the real estate in Sadaqa, but did
not live there, residing permanently in Petra. It was during Theodoros’
absence in Sadaqa that a part of his property has been damaged, due to
his probable negligence,” and his neighbour, Stephanos, erected new
structures on the premises as well as altered the water conduct system
without Theodoros’ knowledge and consent.”® Other causes of contro-
versy were the right of ownership over the outbuilding (udvdpa), that
appears to be the subject of conspicuous number of sales, and other old
grievances that had been taken up anew.”

‘While a considerable part of the document is formulated in an objective
style, it mainly consists of the parties’ direct speech. Both Theodoros and
Stephanos are given equal space to express their position and present
their pursued rights in detail. However, due to the document’s state of
preservation and the fact that the statements of the parties are usually
short, it is not always certain which of the two litigants has the floor at a
specific moment. It seems that both the defendant and the claimant are
granted room for providing argumentation supporting each aspect of the
analysed case on four occasions.”” The proceedings begin with Theodoros’
speech as the plaintiff. It appears from the document that the first state-
ment of each party had been submitted to the arbiters in writing. It was
probably followed by regular, somewhat more casual, oral presentations,

1 Cf., e.g., ll. 231—233; however, Theodoros claims that Stephanos was somehow obliged
to take care of Theodoros’s premises in case of his absence and that Stephanos had failed
to carry out his duty properly (Il. 102-109; 218-222).

20 Cf., eg., 1. 58-69, 133-142; 187-197; 384389, 399—416; 460—475; as also noted by the edi-
tors in the commentary: Kammio, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 51.

2 Cf. 1. 163-187; also signalized in the commentary: Kaimio, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9),
pp- 5556

2 Theodoros’ speeches: 1. Il 9o-142; 2. 201—. 271; 3. 334—¢. 348; 379—¢. 389; Stephanos’
speeches: 1. 1. 145-198; 2. Il. 272—¢. 334; 3. Il. 350—¢. 377; 4. Il 391—449; ¢f Kaimio, ‘P. Petra
v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 47.
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which could be inferred from the use of the direct speech and the
absence of any reference to writing. Subsequently, the final award of the
arbiters is given.

In the award issued with the assent of both parties,” the space that is
not precisely defined by a noun, is divided between Theodoros and
Stephanos, so that Theodoros receives the area from the eastern door-
post of Stephanos’ outbuilding and extending to the east (as the old foun-
dations of his structure were treated as the boundary) while Stephanos
obtains the area outside the door towards the west, north and south.
Additionally Theodoros receives one third of the refuse pit in the north-
ern part, while Stephanos receives the other two thirds extending to the
south.”

The most intriguing issue, however, addressed in the verdict, as well as
the main subject of the dispute seems to have been the ownership of the
structure referred to in the award as the outbuilding (adA{Spov, elsewhere
in the text also called pudvdpa).” It was situated in the northern part of
the courtyard, which is said to had been taken over by Stephanos from his

3 Cf. 1. 449—451: kai TodT)s plovuxias yev[o|uéms €doéer avTols 66e mepl o[ T]wy Tédos
kata ovvalveow duporépwy TV ule]pdv dort(e To]v edlaBéor(arov) Oeddwpov ‘OBodialv]od
k7). — ‘and after lots of contention, they finally, with the assent of both parties, came to the
decision over these matters that the most reverend Theodoros, son of Obodianos’.

Despite the concerns expressed by the editors, this ascertainment need not seem per-
plexing if one considers it a reference to the compromissum concluded between the par-
ties. In P. Petra 1v 39 the abovementioned clause is located in the opening formula of the
decision, contrary to the classical structure (as duly noted by the editors) of settlements
through mediation (ueoirela), where the ascertainment of parties’ consent usually comes
at the end of the issued decision [cf. for instance P. Mich. x111 659, 1l. 54—571. It should be
noted that by concluding a compromissum the parties declared their wish to resolve their
controversy through arbitration and consequently, no further approval of issued award
was required, since the declaration of acceptance of future sententia was already expressed
in compromissum. Although in P. Petra 1v 39 the compromissum is not expressed explicitly,
its existence may be detected in lines 52—58; ¢f Kaimio, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 47.

2 L1 451-460; ¢f Kammro, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 51.

= Cf, eg, 1. 74, 91, 133, 256, 381; other terms applied probably in reference to the mandra (as
a whole or fragmentarily) or to the premises that mandra formed a part of: oikos: eg., 1. 97;
aulidrion: eg., 1. 70, 74, 136, 239, 270, 277, 323, probably 420, 422—423; aule: e.g., 1l. 262—263, 416;
oikesis: e.g., 1. 94, topos: e.g., probably Il. 122 and 126 {reconstructed by the editors}, 1l. 132-133.
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sister and her husband — Gregoria and Kassisaios, probably in connection
with a process of eviction.”* Theodoros claimed the structure to be his by
right, pleading his father’s old deed of sale,” as well as a transaction (prob-
ably a sale) by Kassisaios and Gregoria,” and a previous decision:
dwadalia.”” However, in the verdict it is clearly assumed that the out-
building belonged to Stephanos.

The meaning of the term mandra proposed by the editors is a stable, perhaps also com-
prising living quarters, based on: Geneviéve HussoN, Oékia. Le vocabulaire de la maison privée
en Egypte dapres les papyrus grecs, Paris 1983, pp. 162-163; Calogera Liliana GacLiano,
‘A proposito di év udvdpa in P. Oxy. 984, Aegyptus 80 (2000), pp. 99115, esp. pp. 100~
—101; for the organization of courtyard houses in Petra and the Nagev towns in reference to
the stables linked to the houses see: B. KoL, Die spatantiken Wobnbauten von ez Zantur in
Petra und der Wobnbausbau in Palistina vom 4—6. Jh. n. Chr., Mainz 2000 (Petra-Ez Zantur. 11 2.
Ergebnisse der Schweizerisch-Liechtensteinischen Ausgrabungen, Terra Archaeologica 1v. Monogra-
phien der Schweizerisch-Liechtensteinischen Stiftung fiir Archiologische Forschungen im Ausland),
PP 291, 293295; Y. HIRSCHFELD, The Palestinian Dwelling in the Roman Byzantine Period,
Jerusalem 1995, pp. 259-260; ¢f- also: P. Oxy. v1 984 (Oxyrhynchus, 91-92), P. Lond. v 1694,
1. 23 (Aphrodito, 6 cent.), P. H7b. 11 211, 1. 6 (Hibeh, 250 BC), SB xx1v 16218.10 (Arsinoite, 67
cent.); for detailed information regarding occurrence of the term mandra as well as analysis
of its usage in the context of P. Petra 1v 39 see: J. Kaimio, ‘Introduction: Terms connected

with the houses in 39 and other Petra Papyri’, P. Petra 1v, pp. 17-19.

26 E.g., 1l. 3906-400, 422—423, 467; The eviction could have taken place due to the fact that

the premises sold to Theodoros by Kassisaios and Gregoria had been probably previously
mortgaged to Stephanos. Therefore, Stephanos could have claimed the land and Theodor-
os as a losing party could only claim damages from the seller for the legal defects of a thing
sold; for evictio in Roman Law see, e.g., M. KASER, Das romische Privatrecht 1-11, Miinchen
1971-1975 (2 ed., Handbuch der Altertumswissenschaft x 3.3), 11. Die nachklassischen Entwicklungen,
PP- 390-392; as well as: D. NORR, ‘Probleme der Eviktionshaftung im klassischen rémischen
Recht’, ZRG RA 121 (2005), pp. 152-188; ¢f- also: BucunOLZ, Juristische Terminologie’ (cit.
n. 8), pp. 119-120.

7 E.g., 1. 69-74; 119-133; 277—280.

2 E.g., 1l. 140-142; 372-377.

** For the attestations of the term dialalia, sce n. 14; The issues dealt with in our papyrus
seem to be of a kind, for which the amicable means of dispute resolution seems simply a bet-
ter fit than state litigation. It is indeed possible that at some point the local jurisdiction found
itself involved in the lawsuit, as perhaps indicated by the diz/alia evoked by Theodoros. In this
case, certain provisional decision in favour of Theodoros would have probably been issued
before the arbitration. However, Theodoros failed to present the proper documentation to
the arbitrators. The decision that was eventually made to settle the dispute by means of arbi-
tration, could have been induced both by concerns regarding the expenditures connected
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Moreover, in the outcome of the conducted arbitration a number of
other controversies was settled. As far as the spout is concerned, it was
decided that Theodoros and Stephanos were entitled to conduct water
from each others’ roofs and Theodoros cannot object if Stephanos
wished to erect any additional adjoining structure. Subsequently, the con-
troversy regarding the alleged theft of building materials and encroachment
was terminated by an oath due to the insufficiency of decisive evidence
presented by the parties. Finally, the dispute over two so/idi stemming
from a former quarrel over a vineyard found its solution through an oath
by Theodoros, confirming that he had never promised to pay anything.

Unfortunately, the document does not cite any argumentation for the
applied solution regarding the division of the central courtyard and the
refuse pit, as well as the controversy over the ownership of mandra.

In her legal commentary of P. Petra 1v 39 Maarit Kaimio suggests that
one of the reasons for the solution chosen by the arbiters was the fact
that Theodoros was not able to produce all required documents proving
his right to the premises in question, as stated in the protocol. The per-
tinent fragments read:

(Stephanos words): He did not give to me, when I asked again about my
outbuilding (@ulidrion), the document of the agreement/release of claims
(apallage)’® on the defense (defensio) of the plot (tgpos) concluded between
himself and Gregoria and her husband Kassisaios, nor did he produce it
for you, the judges, who urge (one) to testify what is right.”

with the state trial, as well as problems with the evidence when facing lack of full documen-
tation. It is also not unthinkable, that the entire case could have been of lesser importance for
Theodoros, who lived in Petra, although undoubtedly wanted to protect his interests in
Sadaqa as well; ¢f. BucuHOLZ, ‘Auflergerichtliche Streitbeendigung’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 145-146.

3% The translation of the term apallage offered by the editors is an agreement, though it
should be noted that the term @pallage in a legal context could also mean a release of
claims, or a discharge, see, e.g., LS7, s.v.; in the context of contract of marriage ¢f. e.g.,
P. Ryl. 11 154, 1. 29 (Arsinoite, 66).

SULL 277-280: 671 0V €8[w]re éuol émetpouéve [m]ep[L] 700 éuod a[dAS]p[lov Tov xdpTyy
s yevouévms émi dnpevaiwve 700 Témov dmaldayis peralv [adTod| ral [pyyoplas ral
Kaooioov 100 adTijs avdpos ovTe duetv Tols ducaorais pap|[Tupelv 70] Sikaioy mapawoiow
éroi[paloTo kTA.
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(Stephanos words): ... to present to me the provisional decision (dizlalia),
in order to make manifest {the sale} made by Kassisaios and fhis} wife
Gregoria, nor did he [manifestly showl that after it was made, it was
[included in the decision} given to you ...

The second reason given by Maarit Kaimio is the supposition that
Stephanos could prove his ownership by the praescriptio longi temporis,
because, as he claims, the structure was in possession of his family for
about fifty years. Let us consider the second argument more thoroughly.

Although admittedly Jongi temporis praescriptio may come to mind in
this situation,” a closer examination of the document suggests other
motives lay behind the case. It should be noted that the text does not
hint at any point that longi temporis praescriptio was invoked. According to
the provisions of the Roman law, gaining ownership of land required a
period of ten years of undisturbed and started in good faith possession of
this land — if the parties are from the same province (i.e. are in direct
vicinity) — and twenty years, if the parties come from different
provinces.”* After forty years, according to the Constantine’s law on the
acquisition of prescriptive possession by the length of tenure, the right to
the land should come irrespectively of the legality of the inception of pos-
session that, moreover, is not to be investigated.” It is true that

2 L1 373376 8ifa]Aad[iav] pot mpogélpew] iva parnpodF] [ mpdo]s yevapglvly rapd
Kaooioaiov kai I'pyyop|ias s al’JT(;ﬁ] [yv]vaikds unde ye[v]auévmp év Tols pera vu[dv
drarvmwpévo][s] plavelpas [am]|é[defer ] wT.

3 As the defending party refers to the period of time during which the disputed prem-
ises were in the possession of his family. Unfortunately, this vagueness of the passage is
too enigmatic to allow any certain conclusion. Stephanos’ remark could very well have
been mentioned in passing, and not necessarily referring to a legal institution.

3 Cf. C¥. 7.33.12.

%5 Cf. for instance the P. Columbia inv. no. 181 (19) + 182 (a hearing before the defensor
civitatis about the ownership of some property in Karanis in the year 339) where there is
areference made to the provisions introduced by Constantine concerning long: temporis prae-
scriptio. ¢f- V. AranGio-Ruiz (ed.), Fontes Turis Romani Anteiustiniani (FIRA) 111, Negotia,
Firenze 1943, pp. 318-328, with relevant literature and sources; see also, e.g., C. J. KRAEMER
(jr.) & N. LEwss, ‘A referee’s hearing on ownership’, TAPhA 68 (1937), pp. 357-387; for the
principal sources on longi temporis preaescritpio see esp. p. 358, n. 3; see also IIDEM,
‘Constantine’s law on /longissimi temporis praescriptio’, PapCongr. v, pp. 245—248; papers:
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Stephanos makes a remark that the parcel was in his family’s possession
for about fifty years,” however at no moment does he directly refer to the
longi temporis praescriptio as such, it thus cannot be safely stated that the
remark of the defending party does necessarily indicate the mentioned
institution.”

An alternative interpretation of Stephanos’ statement will be sig-
nalised later in this article. As we can see, a longz temporis praescriptio does
not really provide an answer to the legal controversy outlined in the doc-
ument. Instead, it is the conspicuous number of sales mentioned in the
texts that might provide a more suitable explanation.

A close analysis of the P. Petra 1v 39 brings to mind a practice of con-
ditional surrender of the debtor’s property to the creditor serving as a
security. This form of guaranteeing creditors is known to many legal cul-
tures in Antiquity, such as for instance Roman fiducia, considered the
prototype of Roman system of real securities, as well as its Graeco-Egypt-
ian counterparts. The Ptolemaic and Roman documents provide us with

information about the so called ‘purchase on trust’,” also used as way of

U. WiLckeN, ‘Urkunden-Referat’ AfP 13 (1939), p. 242—243; L. WENGER, ‘Juristische Litera-
turiibersicht virx (bis 1939)’, ibidem, pp. 257259, and 1DEM, ‘Verschollene Kaiserkonstitu-
tionen’, Historisches Jabrbuch der Gorres-Gesellschaft 60 (1940), pp. 353-390, €sp. p. 359;
on the institution of longi temporis praescriptio in Roman Law cf. J. PArTscH, Die longi tem-
poris praescriptio im klassischen romischen Rechte, Leizig 1906, pp. 49-56; cf. R. TAUBEN-
SCHLAG, Das romische Privatrecht zur Zeit Diokletians, Krakéw 1923, p. 172, n. 9.

3611 152-154: émi To0 TapdvTos avoérws kal adikw(s| éviiyayey mpos éue Slkny émi Sakiov
olkmpudrwy adTol s dv eis onuepov €xet Olkatov puerd mevri|kov|ra érn meplmov éuod év
kabééel yey[ov]dros krA. — ‘At the moment, he has unreasonably and unjustly sued me
over the right belonging to his house, claiming that he still today has (this) right, after I
have been in possession (of it) for about fifty years.’

37 Contrary to the abovementioned P. Col. inv. no. 181 (19) + 182 (cit. n. 35) that left no
doubt whether longi temporis praescriptio was being referred.

8 &wij év mioret, of. most recently: J. HERRMANN, ‘Zur dw) & miorel des hellenistischen
Rechts’, {in:} G. TuORr (ed.) Symposion 1985. Vortrige zur griechischen und hellenistischen Rchts-
geschichte, Koln — Wien 1989, pp. 317-335, with relevant literature and sources; previously
on the matter e.g., G. A. GERHARD & O. GRADENWITZ, ‘v év wiorel, Philologus 63 (1904),
pp- 489-583; L. MrrtE1s & U. WiLCKEN, Grundziige und Chrestomatie der Papyruskunde 11 1.
Juristischer Teil, Leipzig 1912, pp. 135-141; R. TauBENScHLAG, The Law of Greco-Roman
Egypt in the Light of the Papyri 332 BC—640 AD, Warszawa 1955, pp. 270—274; contribution to
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securing obligations in form of a transfer of ownership.”” What is both
essential and perplexing is that, in certain cases, the deeds of Byzantine
legal practice provide examples of transfers of debtor’s property to the
creditor serving as a guarantee for a parallel loan agreement, which does
not refer directly to the sum lent or to the loan itself. This latter type of
documents differs significantly from the ‘purchase/sale on trust’ men-
tioned earlier, which is usually accompanied by a corresponding loan doc-
ument® that reveals the mock character of concluded sale. Due to this
fact it is usually the interpretation of other documents connected with
the analysed one that enables us to reconstruct the whole context of
undertaken transactions, and allows us to assume that we are dealing with
guarantees rather than typical deeds of sale.

Such reasoning could be used here because some late antique papyri have
been identified as evidencing of this practice. For instance, such relations
were found in P. Dubl. 32 and 33, and 34, as well as in other documents
found in the archive of Kako and Patermouthis.” The former group con-

the discussion, ¢f. E. RaBeL, ‘Nachgeformte Rechtsgeschifte’, ZRG RA 28 (1907), pp. 311379,
at 355; A. B. Scawarz, ‘Sicherungsiibereignung und Zwangsvollstreckung in den Papyri,
Aegyptus 17 (1937), pp. 241—282; for more information concerning guarantees and securities
in the papyri, see, #nfra, n. 83.

% On this matter: ¢f. J. UrBanik, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall and Eulogios’ cell: transfer of
ownership as a security in some late Byzantine papyri’, [in:} P. Du PLEssis (ed.), New Fron-
tiers: Law and Society in the Roman World, Edinburgh 2013, pp. 151-174, with information
concerning the evolution of the ‘purchase on trust’ in mainland Greece (@vy) émi Adoer/
mpdows éml Aoe) and the figure of Demotic ‘mortgage’; in the latter aspect see also:
F. PRINGSHEIM, The Greek Law of Sale, Weimar 1950, pp. 117-118; on the figure of demot-
ic mortgage most recently see: T. MARKIEWICZ, ‘Security for debt in the Demotic papyr?’,
FFurP 35 (200%), pp. 141-167, esp. pp. 156-158; and P. W. PEsTMAN, ‘Ventes provisoires de
biens pour streté de dettes. dwval év miorer a Pathyris et a Krokodilopolis’, {in:}
P. W. Pest™aN (ed.), Textes et études de papyrologie démotique et copte (P.L. Bat. xx111), Leiden
1985, pp- 45-59-

40 Cf., e.g., PSI vii1 908 (Tebtynis, 42-43), PSI vi11 910 (dup. P. Mich v 332, Tebtynis, 48),
PSI vi11 911 (dup. P. Mich v 335, Tebtynis, 56), P. Mich. v 328 (Tebtynis, 29-30), for more
examples see: PRINGSHEIM, The Greek Law of Sale (cit. n. 39), p. 119 and n. 1, HERRMANN,
‘“Zur oy & miorel (cit. n. 38), pp. 317-335 with literature, and UrBaNIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet
hall’ (cit. n. 39), p. 152, n. 6.

! UrsaNIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), pp. 153-166.
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sists of three deeds of sale from the early sixth century.* They all concern
sales of a monastic dwelling in Labla, on the outskirts of Arsione.”
According to P. Dubl. 32 (7 September §12) and P. Dubl. 33 (9 July 513) a
certain monk — Eulogios son of Iosephos — sold his monasterion twice, in
each case to a different person. A surprising feature is that those two
transactions took place within the same year. A plausible answer to these
phenomena comes with the lecture of a third document, that is P. Dubl.
34 (24 August 511), which is a settlement of claims — dzalysis — and predates
both of the sales. According to this document two monks — Eulogios and
a person who is most probably the party from P. Dubl. 33 — settle their
rights and claims to a hermitage at Labla, where they live. Connecting
this settlement with the two later agreements allows us to reconstruct the
probable chain of fictitious sales serving as a security for a loan.

The archive of Kako and Patermouthis* also provides presumable
examples of similar practice. Those documents shed light on some of the
affairs that took place between Pathermoutis and his troublesome moth-
er-in-law Aurelia Tapia. A deed of sale between Tapia as one party, and
her son-in-law Patermouthis with her daughter Kako as the other,”
seems at the first glance to constitute datio in solutum. However, some
nine years later Tapia sold a part of those premises again to a completely
different person.* This example, together with several other documents”
which certainly concern a single case, reveal the mechanism of mock
sales, and, as I believe, provide a very convincing image of how they actu-
ally functioned.

** For more information concerning the set of documents consisting of three deeds of
sale published in P. Dubl. 32, 33 and 34 see: B. C. McGing, ‘“The Melitian monks in Labla’,
Tyche 5 (1990), pp. 67-94-

 UrsaNIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), pp. 153-154, with further literature.

* For the newest bibliography on the archive, see Leuven Trismegistos database of the
papyrus archive, and its description by Karolien GEENs: ‘Archive of Flavius Patermouthis,
son of Menas’ at Leuven Homepage of Papyrus Collections: <http://www.trismegistos.org/arch/
archives/pdf/37.pdf>

S P. Miinch. 1 9 + P. Lond. v 1734 {protocoll = Pap. Eleph. Eng. D40, 30 May 58s.

6 P Lond. v 1733 = Pap. Eleph. Eng. D49, 6 March 594.
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The question that I would like to pose is whether it is possible that
such transfers of property, serving as a way of securing the previously con-
cluded agreements, could underlie the controversy dealt addressed in
P. Petra 1v 39. In this case, however, it is the occurrence of some particu-
larities herein, rather than the context of the whole archive, that gives
ground to considerable doubts.

Such hypothesis is not entirely unproblematic, especially considering
the fact that large parts of the document concern a dispute over servi-
tudes. One proposed reconstruction of events might be as follows:

With regard to the controversy over the outbuilding (adA{dpiov)
Theodoros produced a written deed of sale, prepared seventy years earlier
by Obedos,* son of Ichmallos for Obodianos, and father of Theodoros.*
The document confirmed the right of ownership of the outbuilding locat-
ed in front of his house.

[the said most God-pleasing Theodoros} presented a written deed of sale
made in Kastron Zadakathon for his most blessed father Obodianos sev-
enty years ago {by the} most blessed Obedos, son of Ichmallos, stating
that he has {the right to the} said stable or {outbuilding} in front of his
house complex (aule).”

Y Cf. P. Lond. v 1729 (= FIRA 111 68, 12 March 584), P. Miinch. 1 11 (= Pap. Eleph. Eng. p4s,
7 October 586); P. Miinch. 1 12 (= Pap. Eleph. Eng. D46, 13 August 590); for detailed analysis
and convincing reconstruction of the events see: URBANIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. 39),
pp- 158-166, with reference to other documents from Kako and Patermouthis Archive of
a similar type; Moreover, for an overview of dispute resolution through arbitration, which
includes the archive of Kako and Patermoutis see: URBANIK, ‘Compromesso o processo?’
(cit. n. 5), pp. 377-400; PALME, ‘Antwort auf Jakub Urbanik’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 401—410; and:
KREUZSALER, ‘Die Beurkundung’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 1126, with further literature.

* Also mentioned in P. Petra 111 22, where he is also already dead.

* Most recently on the relation between Obodianos and Theodoros, as well as on con-
text of Petra papyri in general: Jaakko FrosiEN (Helsinki), ‘From carbonized papyri to the
Monastery of Saint Aaron at Petra — The “last will” of Mr. Obodianos, P. Petra Inv. 6a’ -
paper presented at the 27th International Congress of Papyrology in Warsaw, July/August
2013.

0 LL 70-74: [6 pév elpnuévos Beopi\éar(atos) Oeddwpos| vepdvicer Eyypagov dwialrdly
év Zadakdfwv kdot|p[w yevauevor] e[is 7]ov u[a]kap(tdraTov) ‘OBodiavov adrod mariipa
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Additionally, in order to support his claim Theodoros presented a
written memorandum made through Sergios, a bishop, concerning a suit
between himself and Kassisaios the Son over their rights referring to the
said mandra.’' The question about the probable content of this document
will be addressed later.

Another explicit mention of the sale agreements referring to the out-
building appears in a citation of Stephanos’ speech, in which he attempts
to prove that his father bought the disputed premises at least twice from
two completely different persons.

The said most God fearing Stephanos, too, presented two deeds of sale
made to his most blessed father Leonitos, the one (made) fifty three years
ago byl the most blessed Leonitos, son of Abdallos, the other forty-
[three] years ago by the most blessed Petros, {son of Ioannes}.”

What needs to be stressed is the fact that the document of sale, which
presumably concerned the discussed mandra,” seems to include a guaran-
tee of Theodoros’ right of entrance and exit.”*

The complexity of the matter gains a new level when Leonitos, father
of Stephanos, somehow forfeits the possession of the land in a dispute, or

[a]mo évia[vrd]y €BSou[frovTal [Omo Tob pakap]iwt[(dTov) ‘O]Bedovs TxudAdov mepiéyov
[dho]re adrov éx[ew 70] [Sikarov Hs| el[p|n[p]é[v]ns éumpocber a[D]A[7s nd|vdpas frou
[adAlbplov] kTA.

' Cf. infra, n. 69.
2 LI 79-83: 6 8¢ elpnulévos| [Beooeféar(aros) Drépavos kal adTos évepdvioe|v] dviaka

8vo yevdueva els t[ov] [pa]rapidt(atov) Aedvriov Tov avTod mariplal, & pe[v] dmo érdv
mevrijro[v]Ta Tpel dv] [Umd] ToD pakapiwt(dTov) Aeovirov ABSdANov, 76 € [dA])o dmo érdv
Teaoapd|kovra Tpetdv] ¥mo Tol pakapiwt(drov) [I1]érpolv] Twdvvov kTA.

53 As also noted by the editors, see: Kaimro, ‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), pp. 51-52.

LI 83-85: kai Tov p[év Erepov dwialk[d]y dmd érdv mevrikovra Tpudy yev[du]evov
mep[i]éyoy af [c. 6]opoy [dore] [un) éxew Oeddwpolv €[i] w1 eloodoy Kai é[E]odov wTd. =
‘the other deed of sale made fifty-three years ago stating... [that Theodoros had} only (the
right of) entrance and exit’, ¢f. R. TAUBENSCHLAG, ‘Das Recht auf e{odos und éodos in
den Papyri’, {in:} Opera Minora 11, Warszawa 1959, pp. 405—418.
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at least its part, only to regain it on the basis of a second deed of sale
made to him by Petros, son of Ioannes.” Although the exact context and
the casual nexus for the concluded transactions elude us, it should be
noted that — contrary to the provisions of the previous document — the
second deed of sale includes no apparent reference to any of Theodoros’
rights.

In a speech that directly follows Stephanos’ presentation of the deeds
of sale, Theodoros points out that Stephanos thinks that be still has the own-
ership of the mandra ... and the refuse pit as far as the street of the house complex,
as when owned by the most blessed Petros, son of Ioannes.>® This phrase may
indicate that the ownership that was an object of sale underwent a sig-
nificant change since the time Petros performed his rights. According to
Theodoros this right was no longer effective within the same scope and
Stephanos deliberately interpreted the said deed of sale in a way that vio-
lated the rights of his neighbour.”” This matter, however, seems not
entirely clear, because if Petros had no will to pass the ownership of the
mandra along with the disputed premises, what would be the sense of the
later claims on the part of Theodoros’ stating that he acquired the plot
and the controversial structure from Kassisaios and Gregoria, who was
Stephanos’ sister? How could that be possible?

% Although the mention of all transactions (i.e. the former and later sale) concerning the
disputed premises may seem superfluous while proving one’s rights (the mention of latter
should be sufficient), it seems to be a common practice in a settlement of claims (see, e.g.,
the Kako and Patermouthis archive where the entire pedigree of each plot is meticulously
presented, ¢f. P. Miinch. 1 1; 6; 7; 11; 14; for literature see, supra, n. 44).

6L 91-92: T[ov éu]ov avr[{ducov] év Tois V[mouvmaTikots émboleior wap éufo]d [ws] é€
bor[épo]v plov]riler éxei[v] T[v éfovaliay Tijs pdvdpas [c. 8] []ai To kompodoxiov puéxpt
s avAfjs 660[0 ka]0os karéy[e]ro ¢ parkapidr(aros) I1€é[rpos Twdvvov] kTA. — ‘.my oppo-
nent in the {memorandum submitted} by me, that he thinks he still has the ownership of
the stable... and the refuse pit as far as the street of the house complex, as when owned
by the most blessed Petros, {son of Ioannes}.’

1L 94-97: 1) eloodos dua] s avTis Opas Tikel kal kata kawoTop|lav] éyévero kawd
7[pdémw mapepunrevdule[vov] wap adTol wv|i]akov yevduev|olv eis Tov marépa a[dTo]D [ws]
[éxele ™ [é€ovsialy [r0D] €[i|p[nu]évov olkov éoobev 1o ad[r0l] pecadov kTA. —
{The entrance} is {through} the same door, and the deed of sale (made) to his father was
[misinterpreted} by him in a new [way} causing damage, so that} he has the [ownershipl
of the said house (oikios) inside the same central courtyard.’
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The mere number of the conducted sales should leave us suspicious
about their nature. It seems entirely possible that, at least in some cases,
instead of deeds of actual sales, these were in fact records of transactions
serving as securities for a loan. Expanded on this thought I propose a fol-
lowing reconstruction of events.

Since the first documented deed of sale was made to Obodianos sev-
enty years before P. Petra 1v 39, sometime after the year 504 and before
the year 521, when the second sale mentioned in the protocol was proba-
bly concluded between Leonitos son of Abdallos and Leonitos father of
Stephanos, yet another sale had taken place. Whether it was a real or
fiduciary sale, however, is difficult to define. For the sake of this recon-
struction let us for now assume its character was fictitious.

Suffice it to say that we lack the connection, direct or indirect,
between Obodianos and Leonitos, son of Abdallos. What I would like to
suggest is that the former sold the disputed premises to the latter in order
to secure an obtained loan. This would have practically deprived Obodi-
anos of his rights as the owner of the premises, including mandra, on
behalf of Leonitos, son of Abdallos, leaving him only with the right of
entrance and exit. As it is known from the examples of later land sales
attested in the papyri, the owner in such situation usually presented the
buyer with all documents that proved his rights to the sold premises.™

Leonitos, son of Abdallos, may have accordingly sub-mortgaged the
‘purchased’ property to Leonitos, son of Thanamounos. This liberty of
disposal should not be alarming if one considers the character and form
of the late antique real securities, which in practice equipped the pledgee/
hypothecary with nearly full rights over the pledged property.” This deed
of sale would be therefore the first mentioned in the Stephanos’ speech
proving his rights to the disputed property. Subsequently, Leonitos, son
of Abdallos would have paid off the debt and regained his rights over the
premises. Another interesting point referred to in the protocol, which is
relevant for the reconstruction, is the problem of the potential survival of

% Cf, eg., UrBANIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), p. 157.
5 Cf. ibidem, pp. 168-169, esp. nn. 67 and 71.
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Theodoros’ right of entrance and exit through mandra in the second deed
of sale concluded between Petros, son of Iloannes, and aforementioned
Leonitos, son of Thanamounos. Theodoros stated later that Leonitos had
not obtained ownership over mandra as when owned by Petros, son of
Ioannes.” It is quite likely that Petros somehow had a wider spectrum of
rights, at least to Theodoros’ mind. What could possibly made him think
that?

If we assume that after the repayment of debt by Leonitos, son of
Abdallos, Theodoros’ father also paid off his one, the problem of a poten-
tial shift in the scope of disposed rights does not seem that obscure. Had
the right of entrance and exit been established on behalf of Theodoros’
father in the first deed of sale made to Leonitos, son of Thanamounos,®
it should have ceased to exist the moment the ownership was retrans-
terred to him. According to the provisions of the analysed document, it
seems therefore plausible that the deeds of sale that followed, contrary to
their previous counterparts, did not include a relevant guarantee of
Theodoros’ rights. Such negligence could also explain Theodoros’ strug-
gle for their later recognition by pleading Stephanos’ misinterpretation of
the provisions of his second deed of sale.”” Yet it cannot be ruled out that
the change in the scope of rights in fact regarded the range of transferred
premises, so that in the second sale mandra would no longer be included.
However, in this latter scenario, as previously pointed out, Theodoros’
subsequent purchase of the disputed parcel from Kassisaios and Grego-
ria would be rather difficult to justify.

What were then the rights that Theodoros claimed Stephanos has
reluctantly violated? Was it the ownership over the mandra or perhaps
the right of exit and entrance belonging to his house complex? Theodor-
os mentioned that the breach of his rights continued for fifty three
years,” which, considered along with the occurrence of at least two sale

L1 91-92; see 1. 56.

UL 83-85; see n. §4.

2 L1, 95—97; see n. 57.

8 1L 228-229: otire 8’ €7y [7]e[v]TikovTa Tou v péded] [TH ]y Yuerépwy Sukalwy kTA. —
(Theodoros’ words): ‘nor has he for fifty-three years {cared} for my rights.’
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transactions within this period, seems rather to indicate the infringement
of the latter right. Consequently, such (presumed) violations could have
influenced Theodoros’ undertakings aimed at acquiring the contentious
premises in future.

Answering to Theodoros’ allegations, Stephanos claimed that the
exclusive rights belonging to his adversary has in fact ceased to exist long
since.

(Stephanos words): At the moment, he (Theodoros) has unreasonably and
unjustly sued me over the right belonging to his house, claiming that he

still today has (this) right, after I have been in possession (of it) about fifty
64

years ...

Interestingly enough, Stephanos also claimed that the rights at dispute
have been in the possession of his family for over fifty years. This state-
ment, however, remains at variance with earlier assertion that Leonitos,
father of Stephanos, bought the parcel in question for the second time
from Petros, son of Joannes® forty-three years earlier. Even though these
statements, prima facie, do not correspond with each other, a solution
emerges if we consider that the transitions in the sphere of rights do not
necessarily have to be followed by a corresponding change in factual use
of the premises. Therefore, Stephanos’ family could have remained in
possession of the disputed 7andra and continued to take care of it despite
numerous transactions concerning its ownership.

Thus, if we indeed deal with the right of entrance and exit established
on behalf of Theodoros’ family, non-performance of this right for a con-
siderable period of time (non usus), regardless the character of simultane-
ously concluded agreements, could in consequence lead to its expiration.*

4 L1 152-154; see n. 36.
% Most interestingly herein referred Petros seems to be one of the neighbours of the

parties of controversy and, at the time of arbitration, his family probably lived in the
vicinity of Theodoros’ and Stephanos’ house complex, ¢f. line 309.

% For more information concerning land servitudes in Roman law and their expiration
in the case non usus see e.g., S. SoLAZzZ1, Specie ed estinzione delle servitu prediali, Napoli 1948,
pp. 157-181; and, more recently, Fabiana TuccrLLo, Studi su costituzione ed estinzione delle
serviti nel diritto romano. Usus, scientia, patientia, Napoli 2009, pp. 97-188, esp. pp. 140-169.
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Certainly, this in turn could also serve as a reason for Theodoros’ purchase
of the disputed parcel when such occasion arose. It seems that the possi-
bility appeared after the death of Leonitos and acquisition of the disputed
premises (probably through inheritance) by Gregoria and Stephanos, the
children of Leonitos. Gregoria then may have decided to sell her share in
the parcel to Theodoros. Needless to say, the nature of this transaction is
also not beyond a shadow of doubt. Based on the provision of the protocol
it seems plausible to believe that the sale concluded between Theodoros on
one side and Kassisaios with Gregoria on the other could have also served
as a security for a loan, or could have been somehow connected to the pre-
viously concluded transactions. The nature of this last sale — whether real
or fiduciary — does not significantly affect the interpretation that follows.

To all appearances, Kassisaios and Gregoria guaranteed that the 7an-
dra (the outbuilding) was free from all liability by establishing a hypotheca
generalis on their present and future property, a typical feature of many
late Byzantine documents:*”’

The relevant fragment reads:

(Theodoros words): ... that it was decided that Kassisaios and his wife
Gregoria themselves should guarantee to me with their own risk and that
of their property, with their heirs and successors, the said plot belonging
to my house and the outbuilding, on the written securities made between
myself and the said Kassisaion and his wife Gregoria.*®

With the death of Kassisaios and Gregoria further controversies
arose, probably partially initiated by the inheritance proceedings. Already
in lines 75—79 Theodoros, while proving his rights to mandra, refers to the
memorandum that was made through Sergios, priest and a bishop of

57 Cf. Ursantx, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), p. 155.

L1 127-131: kal 671 €30€ €]y adrovs Kaalaloa|fov] x[a]i [Ipnyolp[dav [r1v] y[vv]aix[a
ad]7ob rabapomorjoal por kwdlvw adTdv kal TpayudTwy adTdV peTd kKAnp(ovduwy)
[a]drdv Siaboxwy Tov elpnuévov 7[7]s éuns oikroews Témov kai T[6] adAibpio[v] Tols
éyypdgpois dxyvpwuévais ye[voulévors petald pod kal o[d] elpnué[vov] Kao|oi|oalov rai
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Sauron, with the assent of Stephanos, that concerned a suit between
Theodoros himself and Kassisaios the Son.*”” What especially hinders the
comprehension of purpose and content of this settlement is the mention
of some sort of defensio. It was stated by the editors that probably two dif-
ferent defensiones are involved in the protocol.”” The first one surely must
refer to a deed of sale concluded between Theodoros and the couple Kas-
sisaios and Gregoria, and seems to be a classic guarantee against eviction.”
In few cases, however, the term defensio is applied with regard to the
mediation of Sergios.”” The usage of this word here seems rather peculiar.
Perhaps after the demise of Kassisaios and Gregoria, Theodoros tried to
make his rights known to the heirs and ensure they are most thoroughly
secured for the future. This would be comprehensible if Stephanos’ fam-
ily had mandra in their factual possession for the whole time. Undoubt-

“ L1 75—79: [mept 6€ ¢. 12 Je[. .Jav [. . . Jw Bo[pwnly Tis oik[foew]s é[vepdvicer
éyypalpov dmopuvnor[ikov 1ol Oleopi Aeot(dTov) Zepylov mpeaPu(tépov)| kal ywpemt-
[ox]émov Zavpov Sik[n]s T1[s] ue[Taéd adTod kal Kaooisaiov viod ?| pera dnpevoiovos
yevouévms ovppwimjoer aupotépwy TGV pepdv kall perd cvvawéoews Tol elpn|u]évov
[feoceBleor(drov) Zre[pdvov] krA. — {Concerning} ...... the northern of the house he
[presented} a written memorandum (made) {through} the most God-pleasing {Sergios,
priestl and country bishop of Sauron?, of a suit between [himself and Kassisaios the Son?}
with the defense made with the consent {of both parties and} with the assent of the said
most God-fearing Stephanos’; ¢f. also lines 119-126: 7dv évemédwra T[0] éyyplagov] duiy
[w]era Tob dviaxod rai Tov yevdu[elvov perald pod kai Ka[ooioalov viod] [éyypagov
wle[ra 100 O)e[o]p[i]A[e]or(dTov) Zepyiov xwpemiok[d]mov kai Ty yev[auévgy ueraéd]
[nod kai atrod dmaayiy wlerd Sngeva|iovos 0|6 Kla]oowo[aiov rémovc. 6] [¢c. 18] . [ . ] .
O¢[ . Jo. €[ ..]o7ods x[dpT]|as 7[s on]p[evaiovos c. 8] [c. 14] . [ . Jo unbév 7[1]s 7€ ueralv
wlod kai Klaocooalov viod| [amadlayis yev]aué[v]y[s 6w 70| elpnuévov Oe[opt-
Aeat(dTov) Zepylov] [t1]s Te év Yot[épew S]epn[vaiovos To]i e[ pyuévov Témov c. 14] KTA.
— ‘T have submitted to you the whole written memorandum together with the deed of sale,
as well as the {written (contract)l made between myself and Kassisaios [the Son} with the
most God-pleasing Sergios, the country bishop, and the past [agreement/release of claims}
including the defense of the {plot} of Kassisaios ......... the {documents} of the [defensel
.......... nothing of the {agreement/release of claims} concluded between myself and Kassi-
saios [the Sonl} through the said most God-pleasing {Sergios} nor of the later defense {of
the said plot}.

7% Cf Bucumnovz, ‘Introduction, legal terminology’ (cit. n. 12), p. 2.
" Eg, Il 119-133, 140-142.
7 E.g., 1. 75-79, 119-126.
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edly, in this settlement some general provisions regarding the water con-
duit from Theodoros’ spout, which was perhaps connected with the 7an-
dra, are adopted,” but its exact content is uncertain. Thus, the interpre-
tation of the term defensio as a security against eviction, other sort of
guarantee or plain ascertainment of guarantor’s action in this context is
problematic.

It seems, however, that at the end of the day the disputed property
was not completely free from liability, since Stephanos — as he claims —
could remove Theodoros through the procedure of evictio. Therefore, the
property was possibly somehow mortgaged to him before the transaction
with Theodoros. In his last speech before the arbiters, Stephanos points
out that he is entitled to demand the possession of Theodoros’ property
and to obtain the outbuilding, which, he maintained, has been pledged to
him as defence.” Moreover, he states that the heirs of Kassisaios and
Gregoria defend him. This could be easily explained by the fact that if the
deed of sale made between Theodoros and Kassisaios and his sister was
not lost, the heirs of Kassisaios and Gregoria, in case of evictio, would be
liable to pay the required penalty (twice the amount of the price) to the
buyer, who lost what he had purchased. In this case, obviously, taking the
side of their uncle gives them an opportunity to escape liability.

The final clause of the issued award leaves open the possibility for
Theodoros to initiate proceedings provided that his claims concerning
the existence of documents proving his right to the contentious premis-
es turn out to be true. As was duly noted by the editors, under Roman law
the decision obtained through arbitration could not be conditional or
partial, since in that case the prerequisite of reaching the final settlement
between the parties would not be fulfilled. It has been, however, recent-
ly pointed out by Kreuzsaler that cases of similar ‘conditionality’ of issued

7 The settlement made through Sergios probably regulated the mutual use of the spout;
¢f- 1. 350377, 368-370, 430-435, 460—468; moreover, it should be noted that in this con-
text Theodoros has raised again the problem of his right of passage to the said plot:
of 11 378-389.

™ Ll 422423 x[wlpiioas [ad]ros 7ov elpmpuév[o]y [ad]A[{I8[prov] v eis Snpevoiwrd pou
Smoreipevoy k7).~ (Stephanos words): ‘to cede myself the said outbuilding which has been
pledged to me as defense’.
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awards are in fact attested and although seemingly at variance with the
provisions of Roman law, those awards may have still been accepted by
the parties and therefore become legally binding.”

In order to correctly interpret this passage one needs to realise that we
deal here with two separate claims that should not constitute a b7s /n idem.
In the award the ownership of the disputed mandra is given to Stephanos,
and Theodoros’ right to claim what is due to him by the successors of
Kassisaios and Gregoria is being secured. The provision outlined in the
decision seems nothing else than a guarantee that ensures the eventual
pursuance of his rights as buyer stemming from concluded obligation.
The question of ownership could not be addressed due to the fact that
Stephanos has previously effectively executed his rights to the disputed
premises through the procedure of evictio, while on the part of Theodor-
os remained the right to claim damages on the basis of sale agreement
concluded with Kassisaios and Gregoria. Since the subject matter of such
proceedings would be the liability of the seller for the legal defects of sold
object and not the right of ownership, which undoubtedly was addressed
in the arbitration presented in P. Petra 1v 39, the final decision could only
concern the monetary compensation amounting to double value of the
object of transaction (n duplum) in accordance to the Roman law of sale.”

The analysis presented herein is made difficult by the vagueness of the
wording of the document in determining the controversial premises in
precise nouns. There is no certainty as to which parts of land are the sub-
ject of the consecutive deeds of sale. Since the sale agreements are dis-
cussed in the part with reference to the ownership of the structure locat-
ed opposite Theodoros’ house in the central courtyard, it would seem
reasonable to assume that they pertain to this very facility. However,
it cannot be ruled out that what is meant here are the purchases that
combine separate plots of land, which only jointly constitute premises of

7 Cf KreuzsaLER, ‘Die Beurkundung’ (cit. n. 5), pp. 2223 with literature and reference
to the discussion on the subject; ¢f- also D. 4.8.19.1 (Paulus, 13 ad edictum) and D. 4.8.37
(Celsus, 2 digestorum) and the explanation proposed by Jakub Ursanix with which I concur:
UrBaNIK, ‘Compromesso o processo?’ (cit. n. 5), p. 384, n. 21.

76 Cf. eg., D. 21.2.1 (Ulpianus, 28 ad Sabinum); D. 21.2.2 (Paulus, 5 ad Sabinum).
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the quarrelling parties. Respectively, the parcel, whose ownership is
probably the defining subject of the dispute (.e., udvdpa, avAidpiov, add,
olkos, oikmats)” is characterised in the papyrus in most diverse terms,
which, unfortunately raise many doubts.

The scenario outlined above could be substantiated by other persist-
ing (despite the lapse of time) controversies tackled in the protocol. Dur-
ing the proceedings Stephanos brought up an old grievance from the time
of his father and claimed that Theodoros was obliged to pay Leonitos a
sum of two so/idi. This matter is connected with a dispute that arose
between Theodoros and Leonitos over a vineyard (dumelos).” Regret-
tably, the document does not offer any details concerning this matter.
The decision issued by the phylarch Abu Karib” was probably in favour
of Theodoros, granting him ownership of the vineyard, as he graciously
agreed to pay two solidi.** The development of the controversy is rather
obscure. Since Theodoros was unable to pay the promised sum,
Stephanos presumably proposed an alternative solution consisting of
some sort of pledge or other type of security, related the ruins belonging
to Theodoros. This passage, however, is badly preserved and does not
allow a safe reconstruction. Stephanos remarked that Theodoros should
have prohibited him from building structures in proximity of this house
twenty years ago (lines 174-177), which Theodoros had apparently neg-
lected. The mention of another pledge gives an impression that we are
actually dealing with a sequence of debts and securities between the two

7 Cf. n. 25; see also: Kammro, ‘Introduction: Terms connected with the houses’ (cit. n. 25),
pp- 9-10.
" Cf eg, 1. 165, 488, 493.

” On the probable appearance of this person in the historical sources see: Karmro,
‘P. Petra 1v 39’ (cit. n. 9), p. 46.

%0 L1 163-166: pdMewora éuod évkahjoavros pera 8y[tos| év {wi Tob marpds pov kal
pwera Qavatov adtod STi nwika éBovA[evaev] [6] @vAapyo[s] ABov XijpnBos émaptv Ty
[du]merov ovverdéar[o dmws]| mep edvoias kal doplelvio[uo]d Tod T[e]revrailov Te]ioy
vopiopara 8vo" krA. — ‘Above all, as I accused together with my father, when he was still
alive, and after his death, that when the phylarch Abu Cherebos determined that (he)
should take the vineyard, he agreed for the sake of the goodwill and gratification of the
last-mentioned to pay two solidi.’
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P. Petra 1v 34:
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families. Stephanos could have presumed that he obtained Theodoros’
permission to erect a building adjoining the old foundations in lieu of
debt-repayment, especially when a pledge was established in his favour
and Theodoros took no care of the discussed premises. Stephanos must
have made some general constructional alterations related not only to the
mentioned area, but also to the water conduit and the refuse pit, which
Theodoros did not approve and which could have led to the arbitration
described in the papyrus.

The proposed interpretation attempts to present a possible back-
ground of the controversy provided in P. Petra 1v 39 and seems to be with-
out prejudice to the available data. It explains the multiple ownership
changes of the parcel within a rather short period of time, as well as the
possible differences in the scope of ownership right of the agreements’
parties, both in cases that include and exclude the right of entrance and exit
of Theodoros’ family. Yet, due to the fact that the protocol does not provide
any direct information that could explain the conspicuous number of sales
mentioned, the explanation presented above should only be perceived as
tentative. If even part of this, admittedly disputable reconstruction is cor-
rect, it may indicate that the analysed controversy stems from the confusion
which was possibly caused by a sequence of fiduciary or fictitious sales.

Additional question that emerges on this occasion and remains open
is whether the figure of pledge in the late Antique times does necessarily
have to follow the pattern of the classical Roman law figures of pignus and
hypotheca.” Or is it more a question of each particular case, in which the
interest of the creditor and debtor is weighed in order to establish a form
of real security that suits the parties best? It should be considered that
ordinary people, not acquainted with dogmatic legal patterns, sought
solutions which would will appear to protect their rights in best possible
manner.” Transfer of ownership treated as a security for credit® seems to

%" For the figure of pignus and hypotheca in classical Roman law see a collection of studies
of M. KASER, Studien zum romischen Pfandrecht, Napoli 1982 (Antiqua 16), passim.

%2 Cf. Ursanixk, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), p. 170, n. 72.

% For more information concerning the system of real securities for debt in the law of
papyri see: A. B. Scuwarz, Hypothek und Hypallagma. Beitarg zum Pfand- und Vollstreck-
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be in accord with this idea as well as in line with views expressed by con-
temporary studies on legal anthropology and legal consciousness in late
Antiquity.* This potentially opens up an entirely new chapter of Byzan-
tine securities that, along with the Byzantine legal practice that fre-
quently fails to make a clear distinction between conventional and pos-
sessory pledge,” contributes to the studies on the figure of pignus,
hypotheca and other types of guarantees applied in the Empire in late
Antiquity.
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ungsrecht der griechischen Papyri, Leipzig 1911, passim.; recently on the subject: J. L. ALoNso,
‘The alpha and omega of hypallagma’, JJurP 38 (2008), pp. 19-52; IDEM, “The bibliotheke enk-
teseon and the alienation of real securities in Roman Egypt’, ¥#urP 40 (2010), pp. 11-54; for
the general overview see: H. A. RupprEcHT, ‘Die dinglichen Sicherungsrechte nach der
Praxis der Papyri. Eine Ubersicht iiber den urkundlichen Befund’, {in:} R. FEENSTRA & /.
(eds.), Collatio iuris Romani. Etudes dédiées @ Hans Ankum a Poccasion de son Gse anniversaire
Amsterdam 1995 (Studia Amstelodamensia ad epigraphicam, jus antiquum et papyrologicam per-
tinentia 35), p. 425; remarks on Byzantine practice and doctrine: A. STEINWENTER,
Das Recht der koptischen Urkunden, Miinchen 1955, pp. 26-30, esp. p. 29.

8 Gacos & van MINNEN, Settling a Dispute (cit. n. 2), pp. 30—48; F. Tuiesen, ‘Die Sicher-
ungsiibereignung und ihre réomischrechtlichen Grundlagen in der Klassik. Betrachtungen
des deutschen gemeinen Rechts des 19. Jahrhunderts’, Tzjdschrift voor Rechtsgeschiedenis 67
(200D, pp. 119-138, p. 119.

8 Cf. UrBaNIK, ‘Tapia’s banquet hall’ (cit. n. 39), p. 153, n. 10.



